North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Board

Minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2019 at Dishforth Village Hall

Present:-

Board Members	Constituent Organisation
County Councillors	
County Councillor Michael Harrison (Chair)	Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Health Integration, North Yorkshire County Council
County Councillor Caroline Dickinson	Executive Member for Public Health and Prevention
Elected Member District Council Representative	
Councillor Richard Foster	Leader, Craven District Council
Local Authority Officers	
Victoria Ononese (substituting for Dr Lincoln Sargeant)	Public Health Consultant, North Yorkshire County Council
Janet Waggott	Chief Executive, Selby District Council and Assistant Chief Executive, North Yorkshire County Council (District Council Chief Executive Representative)
Richard Webb	Corporate Director – Health and Adult Services, North Yorkshire County Council
Clinical Commissioning Groups	
Amanda Bloor	Accountable Officer, NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby, NHS Harrogate and Rural District and NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCGs
Nancy O'Neill	Director of Collaboration, Provider Alliances, NHS Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG
Phil Mettam	Accountable Officer, NHS Vale of York CCG
Other Members	
Jill Quinn	Chief Executive, Dementia Forward (Voluntary Sector Representative)
Judith Bromfield	Chair, Healthwatch North Yorkshire
Shaun Jones	Interim Director of Delivery, NHS England, Yorkshire and the Humber
Co-opted Members	
Colin Martin	Chief Executive, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (Mental Health Trust Representative)
Robert Harrison	Chief Operating Officer, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (Acute Hospital Representative)

In Attendance:-

County Councillor John Ennis, Nigel Ayre, Delivery Manager, Healthwatch North Yorkshire

North Yorkshire County Council Officers:

Katharine Bruce, Lead Adviser, Vulnerable Learners, Children and Young People's Services, Robert Ling, Assistant Director, Technology and Change, Louise Wallace (Health and Adult Services), Patrick Duffy (Legal and Democratic Services), Hannah Youngs (Business Support)

Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book

86. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were submitted by:

- Stuart Carlton, Corporate Director, Children and Young People's Services, North Yorkshire County Council
- Richard Flinton, Chief Executive, North Yorkshire County Council
- County Councillor Janet Sanderson
- Helen Hirst, Accountable Officer, NHS Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG
- Colin Renwick, Clinical Chair, NHS Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG
- Lincoln Sargeant, Director of Public Health, North Yorkshire County Council
- Ros Tolcher, Chief Executive, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust

87. Minutes

Resolved -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2019 be approved as an accurate record.

88. Review of actions taken at the last meeting

Considered -

An Action Sheet produced by the representative of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services), who confirmed that the actions had been implemented, or were in the process of being.

Patrick Duffy, Senior Democratic Services Officer, reported that, with regard to Minute No.84, Multi-Agency Forum on End of Life Care, at the last meeting, it had been agreed that further information be provided on what the Forum had done in connection with the original recommendations made by Scrutiny of Health Committee, before a decision was taken as to whether it needs to continue.

He had discussed this with Gill Collinson, Executive Nurse, at Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG, who chaired the Forum. She had advised that it was clear all of the CCGs had local commissioning infrastructure which worked well and that tight resources, particularly in the third sector, meant that additional meetings were not particularly attractive. Nor was there capacity to do additional work. However, people did want to share good practice and learn from each other. Scrutiny of Health Committee had been briefed accordingly and were happy with this approach.

Resolved -

That the Multi-Agency Forum on End of Life Care be not continued

(NOTE: The work on End of Life Care will continue but without the vehicle of the Multi-Agency Forum)

89. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

90. Public Questions of Statements

There were no questions or statements from members of the public.

NOTE: The Chair agreed that the order of business be varied slightly so that Theme updates 2018/19 and Themes for 2019/20 be considered as the next item, followed by the Growing Up in North Yorkshire Survey.

91. Theme Updates 2018/19 and Themes for 2019/20

Considered -

A report by the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) which:-

- updated the Board on progress against themes in 2018/19; and
- sought Members views as to how the themed approach had worked during its first year and its thoughts on the consideration of themes for 2019/20 (i.e. with effect from the May 2019 meeting of the Board).

Theme Leads provided an update as follows:-

Digital

Robert Ling, Assistant Director Technology and Change, provided his update via a presentation which concentrated on the engagement around the draft Digital Strategy *My Health, My Tech*.

He highlighted the following, in particular:-

- The aims of the engagement were to:-
 - let people know about My Health, My Tech;
 - start a conversation about the Digital Strategy; and
 - gather data that can be built on as the strategy develops
- Three drop-in workshops had been held in Scarborough, Northallerton and Harrogate, between 25th February and 12th March 2019, as well as an Online Survey, based on case studies.
- Some 90 people had attended the workshops and 43 responses had been received to the Online Survey (as at 20th March).
- Emerging themes included:-
 - "cautious support" for new technologies;
 - the ongoing importance of human contact;
 - the need for training for the public in the use of emerging technologies; and
 - maintaining and ensuring privacy

- The engagement was seen as the start of an ongoing conversation. Further opportunities would include invitations to speak at local forums; keeping the Survey open for an agreed period; encouraging people to complete it and updating http://www.nypartnerships.org.uk/myhealthmytech web page with progress on an interactive basis.
- He would arrange for the longer consultation document to be sent to Members. Further support from Board Members would be welcome.
- The process for the Digital Challenge, whereby the Board had agreed up to £50,000 to support up to four proposals to address major challenges facing health and social care across the county, was outlined. This would include presentations by successful bidders to the Board at its meeting on 24th May and culminate in mobilisation and implementation from 1st June 2019.
- The Local Health and Care Records Initiative (LHCRE) for Yorkshire and Humber would involve a digital care record; linking clinical systems together; improved intelligence; and people being actively involved in their health and wellbeing.

In response to a question from the Chair on timescales, Robert Ling confirmed that the LHCRE would come to fruition within the next eighteen months.

The Chair stressed that it was important that Members gave their views and that there was proper engagement with the Board

Following on from the above point, Members were asked to consider how digital engagement might best be continued in their areas and to let Robert Ling and Louise Wallace, Assistant Director for Health and Integration, have any views on this.

Richard Webb, Corporate Director for Health and Adult Services, felt that if further engagement from the Board was sought, then something more tangible/structured for the organisations that comprise it was required. Was there, for example, a pack that could be sent? Also, often feedback was about things that people found difficult or worrying; was there anything positive that could be pulled out?

He added that there was a danger that we *try everything once*, rather than focusing on particular areas. If it was possible to derive something that cuts across primary and secondary care that would be beneficial. A wider range of partners should be involved - staging when, for example, the voluntary sector become involved.

Nancy O'Neill, Director of Collaboration, Alliance Services, at Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven CCG, indicated that she wished to be involved in respect of the Craven area.

The Chair stressed that careful thought needed to be given as to how best to get the message out.

Jill Quinn, Chief Executive of Dementia Forward, commented that how this was marketed would be key. People's initial reaction would tend to be *I want to talk to a human being*. This had to be overcome.

Jill Quinn also referred to "Dementia Champions" and how this process worked. She would be prepared to be a *Digital Champion*.

She also commented that Commissioned Services were not always sharing information. Robert Ling said he would connect her in to the work going on with Stronger Communities and Community First.

Robert Ling said that a difficulty was that we only know what we know i.e. he was aware that there are a multitude of free apps for, say, people who have lost their voice, but probably most people who need to know about these do not. This needs to be turned around, so that people can say "I've used this and it worked well".

Judith Bromfield, Chair of Healthwatch North Yorkshire, referred to a scheme developed by Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG, about four or five years ago, where permission was sought from individuals for GPs to include on an individual's records the full range of organisations involved in their care.

Amanda Bloor, Accountable Officer for Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby, Harrogate and Rural District and Scarborough and Ryedale CCGs, stated that the CCGs were finding that, increasingly, people are happy for their information to be shared. Primary Care Networks would assist this process.

Mental Health

Amanda Bloor and Richard Webb updated.

Detailed feedback had been provided at the November meeting of the Board. Real progress had been made, including the securing of additional investment.

Work around children's eating disorders in North Yorkshire and York had been approached in a different way, resulting in better conversations and improved outcomes for the children concerned.

Difficult decisions would need to be made to move away from acute services towards community-based services.

Colin Martin, Chief Executive of Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, agreed that difficult choices had to be made. However, the transition to a new, expanded Mental Health Service was progressing well and he looked forward to further service enhancement as a result of recent successful bids for funding streams. For example:-

- a Mental Health Diversion Liaison Service would operate for the first time within North Yorkshire;
- a Perinatal Service was to be introduced; and
- Children's and Adolescent Mental Health Services would be expanded to a 24/7 Service from April 2019.

The Chair referred to the challenge faced by the fact that outcomes are easier to measure in the treatment of people who have had, say, a stroke, than those experiencing mental health issues.

Housing and Health

Janet Waggott, Chief Executive Selby District Council and Assistant Chief Executive, North Yorkshire County Council, advised that she was actively working on this theme in consultation with Councillor Richard Foster, who represents District Councils Elected Members on the Board and who chairs the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding Strategic Housing Partnership.

There had been a demonstrable shift in culture towards working in a more collective, partnership approach, as illustrated by the work on Homelessness Prevention, a new arrangement for which would commence in September 2019.

Partners were looking at how best to utilise resources and there were close links with Public Health and the District Council Network.

Several pieces of work were being undertaken and she would report on the decisions made at future meetings of the Board.

Nigel Ayre, Delivery Manager, Healthwatch North Yorkshire, advised that Homeshare UK (The UK Network for Homeshare) offered ten hours free care and wondered whether something similar occurred in North Yorkshire. Richard Webb said he would take note of this. Nigel said that he would send on the link to Richard.

Care Market

Louise Wallace advised that, although there had been a bespoke Workshop held on this topic in January 2019, the work involved was considered to be "business as usual", rather than something that needed to be a theme.

The Board would continue to have oversight of the issues raised and would receive an update on progress in six months.

Following the above theme updates, the Chair sought views on the themed approach.

Amanda Bloor felt that the Board was now achieving more by looking at specific areas rather than *spreading itself too thinly*. She felt that the value added, in areas such as Digital, had been helpful.

District Council representatives welcomed the new approach, particularly given the links on the Housing and Health Theme.

The consensus was that the approach was more purposeful.

Richard Webb felt that there may be topics, such as social prescribing, that would lend themselves to a one-off Workshop, rather than necessarily becoming a theme. Therefore, there would be a blended approach.

Resolved -

- a) That Members identify how digital engagement might be continued in their areas and let Louise Wallace and Robert Ling have their thoughts on this.
- b) That Robert Ling liaise with Jill Quinn about her offer to act as a "Digital Champion".
- c) That Robert Ling link Jill Quinn into the work being undertaken with the Stronger Communities Team and Community First.
- d) That the progress made so far on the existing three themes Digital; Mental Health and Housing and Health be noted and that these be continued into 2019/20.
- e) That it be noted the Care Market will not be a theme but that work will continue on a business as usual basis, with progress being reported in six months time.

92. Growing up in North Yorkshire Survey 2018

Considered -

The presentation by Katharine Bruce, Lead Adviser, Vulnerable Learners, Children and Young People's Services, which provided a summary of the latest Growing Up in North Yorkshire Survey, undertaken in 2018.

Prior to the meeting, a link to a summary of the Survey had been emailed to Members.

Katharine highlighted the following:-

- The Survey resonated well with the Board's Start Well Theme, in its Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
- Over 16,000 pupils had participated.
- The scope of the information enabled a very broad dataset to be produced, from which a "deep dive" had been commissioned on emotional and wellbeing.
- This was the seventh bi-annual Survey since its introduction in 2006 and a number of changes over time were apparent. For example, the percentage of children in Year 6 who said they had bullied someone at school had reduced every Survey, from 11% in 2006 to 3% in 2018 and the percentage of Year 8 pupils who said that they never drink alcohol had doubled from 29% in 2006 to the current 58%.
- Pupils in secondary school are more likely than primary pupils to have had nothing to eat or drink before school.
- Whilst the majority of children feel safe at school, fewer secondary pupils feel safe at school.
- More pupils are learning how to be safe on the internet.
- After school, a lot of primary school pupils, especially boys, are playing computer games.
- Girls are worrying more, in general, but types of worries are different between genders. A new worry is with *the way they look*, with 16% of boys saying they worry about this "often or all of the time" and 45% among girls.
- Worries about health are also significant and a recent change in the Department for Education Statutory Guidance Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education (February 2018) has meant that if, in the year before their sixteenth birthday, a child wants to receive lessons in sex education, the school must now provide this even if the parents have requested that their child be withdrawn from Sex Education. Previously, parents could request that these be withdrawn.
- In terms of the Young and Yorkshire outcomes, the increasing awareness of sexual health was a positive development.
- With regard to vulnerability, there are a number of indicators where vulnerable children and young people indicate less positive perceptions and behaviours.

This is particularly marked for LGBT (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender) secondary aged pupils. It is noted that there is a strong strategy to support LGBT young people and this was recognised in the local authority being ranked top of all Local Authorities submitting in the Stonewall Education Equalities Index

- Cross-cutting themes and outcomes vary significantly for Districts versus all of North Yorkshire.
- Emerging priorities are:
 - Smoking more pupils are trying electronic cigarettes
 - Bullying because of the way they look and perceptions of how it is dealt with by schools
 - Safety at school fewer pupils are feeling safe in secondary schools
 - Online Safety experiences and keeping safe
 - Emotional wellbeing more pupils with a low level of resilience, fewer with a high score of wellbeing
 - Future Education fewer pupils intend to apply for University
 - Healthy Eating pupils are less likely to eat fresh fruit/vegetables on 'most days'

Nigel Ayre commented that the traditional difference between feeling safe at home and at school was blurring as a result of social media. Katharine Bruce concurred – a lot of pupils lives are online so there is a need to support young people, especially those pupils with special educational needs and who are socially isolated.

Nigel Ayre further commented that it is difficult to differentiate between time spent, say, watching TV and "gaming", as technologies have merged i.e. young people no longer exclusively watch TV on a television, or play games on a games console.

Katharine Bruce said that an encouraging development was that, if young people do not recognise someone's details when gaming, they will increasingly block and report that individual.

Janet Waggott wondered whether not eating food at home was through choice or a lack of food?

Amanda Bloor commented that things which have traditionally been considered risky behaviours seem to be declining, yet young people are coming forward with mental health issues and there had been an increase in self-harm. Schools must ensure pastoral support and support online needs.

She added that pupils perceptions about safety were now not just bullying, but fear of terrorism.

Richard Webb thanked Katharine Bruce for the useful context she had provided. He felt that social media presented challenges and the key was how we overcome these. There had always been trauma for young people – the crucial aspect was how it is dealt with. We need to think of a different way of tapping into people's aspirations other than the University route, which does not suit everyone.

He added that young carers are a concern, as there is so much going on in their lives. Were we overcoming prejudices on sex and sexuality? Katharine Bruce responded that the profile of young carers had increased and schools, through this Survey, are reminded of the numbers of young people reporting that they are young carers and the need to engage with them. In terms of higher education options, twenty Careers Guidance Hubs were being introduced nationally, managed through the Local Enterprise Partnerships, including a North Yorkshire Careers Guidance Hub.

Nancy O'Neill queried whether resilience could be tracked. Katharine Bruce advised that this was of primary importance, especially through transitions work; being clear who vulnerable children are; making preparations for these moving through the system; knowing the child well; and ensuring pastoral support for the child.

Councillor Richard Foster asked about the use of knives. Katharine Bruce responded that North Yorkshire levels are lower than for comparator Shire Counties but higher among a number of the most vulnerable groups.

Victoria Ononese, Public Health Consultant, commented that, although research seemed to indicate that children who use electronic cigarettes tend not to go on to smoke tobacco, it is still a "first behaviour" and, therefore, this cannot be said to be the case with certainty.

She also stated how useful the wealth of data from this Survey was and mentioned that a discussion on funding for future Surveys had taken place at a recent meeting of The Children's Trust with a mechanism being established for partners to contribute to the funding of the Survey.

Katharine Bruce asked Members to contact Tom Bryant, Strategy and Performance Team Leader, (whose details were included on the summary circulated), if they required any further information on the data.

The Chair thanked Katharine Bruce for her interesting and informative presentation.

Resolved -

- a) That the presentation be noted.
- b) That Stuart Carlton, Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services, be asked to update the Board on future funding and possible funding contributions through the Health and Wellbeing Board.
- c) That the District Reports be shared with the Chief Executives of the District Councils.

93. Membership

Considered -

The report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) which sought the Board's approval to its membership being extended.

Patrick Duffy presented the report and highlighted the following aspects:-

As mentioned in his previous report on Membership, to the meeting on 23rd November 2018, in addition to the Statutory Members, the Board comprised representative categories of membership. For example, Janet Waggott represents all of the District Council Chief Executives. The rationale was that

this helped avoid the number of Members becoming unwieldy, given the size of the county and the potential number of participants.

- It was, however, suggested that the Board might wish to extend its membership to include one representative from Primary Care and one representative form Care Providers, as Co-opted Members.
- The reasoning behind this was stated in paragraphs 2.3 and 2.4 of the report but, essentially, GPs play an important role in helping deliver the Board's objectives, particularly on prevention initiatives and the recent Workshop on the Care Market, held on 23rd January 2019, had highlighted the benefit of Care Providers being represented.
- If Members agreed with the suggestion, it was proposed that the three CCG Accountable Officers discuss and agree a recommendation in respect of Primary Care and that the Independent Care Group be asked to nominate a representative from Care Providers.

Resolved -

- a) That the membership of the Board be extended to include, as Co-opted Members, with voting rights, one representative from Primary Care and one representative from Care Providers, subject to the approval of the County Council.
- b) That the three CCG Accountable Officers discuss and agree a nomination and designated substitute for Primary Care.
- c) That the Independent Care Group be asked to nominate a representative and designated substitute from among Care Providers.
- d) That it be noted the appointments will be until the County Council Elections in 2021.

94. Better Care Fund Update and Section 75 Agreement

Considered -

The presentation by Louise Wallace, which highlighted a number of key messages. These included:-

- the Better Care Fund (BCF) covered two years 2017/18 and 2018/19 with most schemes rolled forward from the 2016/17 Plan:
- agreement had been reached on the utilisation of the Disabled Facilities Grant;
- the escalation process had been exited, following submission of Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) targets;
- Quarter 4 performance information had been submitted;
- the Section 75 Agreement for the BCF pooled budget had been signed;
- the BCF Review and Social Care Green Paper were awaited. These would inform the future direction of the BCF;
- there was a continued disconnect between quarterly return data and published metrics, resulting in partial data for each return period;

- performance against national metrics varied across areas with the overall position as follows:-
 - Non-elective admissions 2017/18 outturn was 1475 NEA's (2.2%) above target. In 2018/19, Quarter 3 indicates on target.
 - Residential/Nursing admissions 2017/18 outturn was 222 placements (32.3%) above target. In 2018/19, Quarter 3 indicates not on target.
 - Re-ablement data for 2018/19 Quarter 3 indicates on target.
 - DTOC 2017/18 outturn was 1884 days (8.4%) above target. In 2018/19 Quarter 3 indicates 24% above target.
- Improved BCF investment is split as below:
 - Meeting Adult Social Care needs = 34%
 - Reducing pressures on NHS, including supporting people to be discharged
 32%
 - Local Social Care Market is supported = 34%
- There were a number of priorities including: working to the revised DToC target; approving additional Improved BCF schemes; submission of Quarter 4 information by 18th April; and meeting BCF planning requirements, when these are published.
- Specifically on DToC, daily conversations between staff in Health and Social Care continued and performance was heading in the right direction. North Yorkshire's performance was not out of kilter. The target had not been met but this had to be seen in the context of the extremely challenging target.

Shaun Jones, Interim Director of Delivery for NHS England, Yorkshire and the Humber, advised that challenges with UNIFY data was a national issue.

He added that the ratio between delays attributable to Health or Social Care and those attributable jointly varied. Generally though, NHS delays have been more stable.

The Guidance had been delayed but he understood that, essentially, it would be a continuation of this year for 2019/20 and that Adult Social Care additional monies would be rolled into the BCF.

Resolved -

That the presentation and, in particular, the following be noted:-

- the North Yorkshire health economy is compliant with requirements;
- the Section 75 Agreement for BCF pooled budget has been signed; and
- that 2019/20 will be a one year BCF Plan.

95. Draft Protocol between Scrutiny of Health Committee; Care and Independence Overview and scrutiny Committee; and the North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Board

Considered the report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) which sought approval to a draft Protocol between the Board; the Scrutiny of Health Committee; and the Care and Independence Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Patrick Duffy presented the report and advised that this stemmed from a recommendation made by the Regional Peer Challenge Programme, following their Inspection of Health and Adult Services in 2018.

The Inspection had been very positive, but the Inspection Team felt that there would be some benefit to a Protocol between this Board and the County Council's Scrutiny Committees.

A draft Protocol, which had been discussed with the relevant Chairs and Vice-Chairs, was appended to the report. It had a section for Members and a section for officers.

The approach taken was that the Protocol should be simple and straightforward, rather than being an encumbrance.

Resolved -

That the Protocol between Scrutiny of Health Committee; Care and Independence Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and the Health and Wellbeing Board be agreed.

96. Health and Wellbeing Board - Rolling Work Programme/Calendar of Meetings 2019/20

Considered -

The Work Programme/Calendar of Meetings for 2019/2020.

Amanda Bloor suggested that it would be helpful for the Board to have a view on the NHS Long Term Plan.

Victoria Ononese referred to social prescribing and felt it would be beneficial to link up the work that is taking place on this. Richard Webb advised that discussions were taking place between the NHS and the County Council and that Leah Swain, from Community First was also involved.

Resolved -

- a) That the Work Programme/Calendar of Meetings for 2018/2019 be noted.
- b) That the following be added to the Work Programme
 - NHS Long Term Plan discussion (July meeting, potentially)
 - Social Prescribing (consider in the autumn)

The meeting concluded at 11.35 p.m.

PD